FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 10/6/2023 2:43 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

102452-5

IN THE SUPREME COURT FOR STATE OF WASHINGTON

RAY GARBAGNI,

Petitioner

v.

KARIN DOVE and ANEW,

Respondents

Court of Appeals Case No. 84335-4-I Appeal from the Superior Court of the State of Washington for King County

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Zachary B. Herschensohn, WSBA 33568 Herschensohn Law, PLLC 19219 – 68th Ave. S., Suite M-101 Kent, Washington 98032 206/588-4344 Attorneys for Petitioner Ray Garbagni

October 6, 2023

INTRODUCTIONE
rror! Bookmark not defined.
ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR5
ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR
STATEMENT OF THE CASE
ARGUMENT16
CONCLUSION28
APPENDIX A. Order from Court of Appeals31
APPENDIX B. Order Denying Motion for
Reconsideration37

Cases

<i>Guijosa v. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc.</i> 144 Wn.2d 907, 915, 32 P.3d 250, 254 2001)16
Sing v. John L. Scott, Inc. 134 Wn.2d 24, 29, 948 P.2d 816 1997))16
<i>Indus. Indem. Co. of Nw. v. Kallevig</i> 114 Wn.2d 907, 915-16, 792 P.2d 520 (1990)17
Alejandre v. Bull 159 Wn.2d 674, 681, 153 P.3d 864, 867 (2007)18
Stevens v. Gordon 118 Wn. App. 43, 56, 74 P.3d 653, 661 (2003)
Leak v. U.S. Rubber Co. 9 Wn. App. 98, 102-3, 511 P.2d 88 1973)18, 22
Bankson v. Laflam 92 Wash. 437, 438-39, 159 P. 369, 369 191622
Passage v. Stimson Mill Co. 52 Wash. 661, 670, 101 P. 239, 242 (1909)22
Brammer v. Lappenbusch 176 Wash. 625, 634, 30 P.2d 947, 950 1934)23
Suprunowski v. Brown & White Cab Co. 142 Wash. 65, 68, 252 P. 155, 157 (1927)23
State v. Eisner 95 Wn.2d 458, 626 P.2d 10, 12 (1981)26

State v.	<i>Deal</i>
128	Wn.2d 693, 703, 911 P.2d 996, 1002 (1996)26
State v.	<i>Levy</i>
156	Wn.2d 709, 721, 132 P.3d 1076, 1081 (2006)26
State v.	<i>Brush</i>
183	Wn.2d 550, 559, 353 P.3d 213, 218 (2015)26, 27

I. INTRODUCTION

In August 2017, appellant Raymond Garbagni ("Garbagni") was injured when his vehicle was rear-ended by the respondents, Karen Dove and her employer Apprenticeship and Nontraditional Employment for Women (ANEW). Ms. Dove caused the collision while acting in the course of her employment as the director of ANEW, a 501(c)(3) organization. Respondents (hereinafter "Respondents" or "ANEW-Dove") were sued for their negligence and *respondeat superior* liability.

Since the collision, Garbagni has suffered from a debilitating brain injury.

When Garbagni sued, ANEW-Dove admitted liability, but the case went to trial so that a jury could determine the amount of damages owed to Garbagni for his past, present, and future pain and suffering. CP 304:19. At trial, Garbagni presented evidence that showed the collision "destroyed his life." RP 1040:7-1042:16.

Dr. David Widlan, a clinical psychologist, testified at the trial on June 29, 2022, that Garbagni suffers from a neurocognitive disorder as well as a personality change due to brain trauma from the collision. RP 841:7-842:19. Garbagni and his family members testified to the many physical and emotional challenges he continues to face: injury-related headaches, fatigue, and numbness; injury-related job loss; and injury-related emotional lability. RP 536:1-537:19; 647:1-9; 669:11-671:25; 738:22-740:11; 768:4-769:7.

Despite this evidence of ongoing pain and suffering, the trial court granted the respondents' CR 50 motion to prohibit the jury from awarding damages for the pain and suffering that Garbagni experienced on or after June 12, 2021. RP 1198:3-7; 1202:20-24. After first striking Garbagni's claim for permanent injury the trial court further instantiated its ruling in a jury instruction which forbade the jury from awarding any general damages after June 12, 2021. RP 1240:22-25.

This Court must reverse. Washington courts have consistently held that a jury can award past and future damages so long as there is some supporting evidence admitted at trial. This is especially true for noneconomic damages, which by their nature are difficult to measure and–should not be arbitrarily limited. The trial court was required to view all the evidence concerning future and past pain and suffering in a light most favorable to Garbagni but failed to do so. Consequently, the trial court erred when it granted the respondents' CR 50 motion which erroneously dismissed Garbagni's claim for damages experienced on and after June 12, 2021.

Furthermore, the ruling carried over to the erroneous jury instruction, jury instruction 11, which improperly suggested to the jury that the trial court agreed with the respondents' argument that Mr. Garbagni failed to present sufficient evidence of noneconomic damages. Therefore, the instruction amounted to an unconstitutional comment on the evidence.

The prejudicial impact of the trial court's comment on the evidence extended beyond simply limiting the time period of general damages, but rather influenced the weight and credibility of Dr. Widlan's causation opinions and the observational testimony provided by Garbagni and his family members. Dr. Widlan testified live at trial on June 29, 2022 that Garbagni suffered from his condition presently, but the jury was instructed not to consider any damages past the exact date when Dr. Widlan conducted his interview and diagnosed Garbagni's brain injury. Thus the instruction rendered his causation opinion non-sensical and largely meaningless. RP 882:8-23. Similarly, the lay family members' testimony was also impaired temporality limitation embedded in the erroneous jury instruction. Garbagni's lay witnesses provided extensive testimonial evidence that described symptoms observed during the time spanning the year leading up to the trial, June 2021, through June 2022. RP 507-772. The trial court's erroneous jury instruction disallowed the jury from

considering both the symptoms described by the lay witnesses and diagnoses rendered by the expert, because both occurred during the time period that the jury instruction limited.

II. ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

- 1. The superior court erred by ruling that general damages could not be awarded for losses incurred after June 12, 2021. RP 1202:2-25.
- 2. The superior court erred by giving Jury Instruction 11, which limited any pain and suffering award to pain and suffering experienced on or before June 12, 2021. CP 825; RP 1240:14-25.

III. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. Did the superior court err by granting a CR 50 motion prohibiting general damages incurred after June 12, 2021, given that substantial evidence to support such general damages was presented?

2. Did the superior court err by giving Jury Instruction 11, given that the instruction misstated the applicable law due to the erroneous CR 50 order?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On August 16, 2017, appellant Garbagni was injured when the automobile he was driving was rear-ended by the respondent Karen Dove while she was acting in the course of her employment with respondent, ANEW. RP 612:20-24. Upon impact, Garbagni's head struck the headrest. RP 612:20-23. Immediately after the crash, Garbagni "start[ed] to feel weird." RP 614:10-20. Garbagni called his wife, Mary Garbagni, and told her he was rear-ended and that he was not feeling well and asked her to come get him and take him to the emergency room. RP 615:11-20 Garbagni vomited in the street while waiting for his wife. RP 616:4-9. During the drive to the hospital, Garbagni complained of sensitivity to light, blurry vision, headache, and dizziness. RP 526:20-25; 528:10-11. Following the collision, Garbagni experienced increased aggression, irritability,

headaches, blurry vision, apathy, fatigue, and sleep deprivation. RP 532:17-25; 539:24-25; 540:1-6.

On June 10, 2020, Garbagni filed suit. Subsequently, the respondents admitted liability. RP 304:19. On June 21, 2022, the case proceeded to a jury trial to determine the amount of general damages owed to Garbagni. See RP 489:16-17. The evidence at the trial showed that Garbagni sustained a brain injury, and that this condition severely impacted his physical, mental, and emotional well-being. Garbagni testified that he still experiences ongoing physical symptoms. He testified to ringing in his ears, a symptom that he testified "hasn't left [him] since the day of the accident," he also testified that he has headaches several times per week, has persistent sleep disturbances, and he has difficulty with daily tasks such as getting ready for work. RP 642:2-7; 670:16-20; 674:20-675:2; 696:9-24.

The evidence presented at the trial showed that Garbagni has difficulty with daily tasks because his post-injury mental capabilities are significantly diminished as compared to his preinjury cognitive function. Garbagni, who worked as a copy machine repairman for Canon of North America, was unable to return to work until November 2017—roughly three months after the collision—because of his injuries. RP 677:7-20. Upon his return, Garbagni had difficulty reading manuals and interpreting photocopier error codes because his concentration and ability to pay attention were impaired. RP 678; 681:13-25. Garbagni struggled in his continuing education classes and even failed several routine exams for Canon certification—exams that he had routinely passed before the accident. RP 688. Ultimately, Garbagni was fired from his job at Canon of North America due to cognitive performance issues, he testified that he was unable "to pass specific courses" required for his continuing education, and his "stats . . . were all pretty dismal." RP 690.

After losing his job, several months passed before Garbagni found employment with a different copy machine repair company. RP 691-94. Though he was ultimately able to

return to work, albeit with a different employer, Garbagni continues to encounter difficulties with the continuing educational and certification requirements of his trade, as well as other cognitive aspects of the job. RP 694. For example, he now must take detailed notes and screen shots when training, and he maintains a large binder detailing the work performed for customers just so he can keep up with his basic job responsibilities and pass routine performance exams. RP 694:24-695:9.:

Garbagni also testified that his brain injury has led to persistent and ongoing problems regulating his emotions. RP 694, 696, 698, 700, 716. Ever since the collision, he is more susceptible to unpredictable emotional outbursts and often overreacts to trivial matters and gets angry for no reason. RP 697:12-701:15, 697:16-698:22.

For example, the evidence showed that on one occasion, Garbagni confronted a stranger who bumped his car while parallel parking. Garbagni got out of his car, yelled at the driver, and ripped the license plate off the other car with his bare hands. RP 698:23-699:9. On another occasion, while driving with his young granddaughter, Garbagni pulled the car over and screamed at her after she told a harmless joke. RP Garbagni's wife testified that his injury-related symptoms "have persisted. And he's kind of just tried to adjust. It's now like daily life." RP 542:5-11.

Garbagni's son, Tristan Garbagni, echoed this testimony, stating that his father's mental condition following the accident continues to affect their lives: "my dad is not very engaged...he doesn't show interest in stuff that he used to enjoy. . . he gets like sensory overload, loud noises, doesn't like being around big crowds." RP 739:2-7. Tristan testified that Garbagni "quite frequently" loses control of his emotions "at least three times a week," and said that his father "gets irritable and irritated over the littlest things that he's never you know really had an issue with." RP 741.

One of Garbagni's granddaughters testified that she had a good relationship with him prior to the rear end collision. RP 761:19-762:17. She stated that "[w]e were really close. He was like – he was the closest thing I had to my dad." RP 763:25-764:1. But she also testified that since the collision, Garbagni is irritable, tired, and moody. RP 768:4-25; 771:4-13.

Dr. David Widlan, a licensed clinical psychologist, reviewed Garbagni's medical records, interviewed him, and administered cognitive testing. RP 818:6-820:9; 820:13-20; 842:1-19; 882:9-13. During the trial, Dr. Widlan was qualified as an expert in clinical psychology without objection. RP 817:24-818:3. Dr. Widlan diagnosed Garbagni with "mild neurocognitive disorder due to a traumatic brain injury" and "personality change due to a traumatic brain injury." RP 818:6-820:9; 820:13-20; 842:1-19; 882:9-13. Dr. Widlan testified on June 29, 2022, that, "on a more probable than not basis with a reasonable degree of medical certainty," the conditions he diagnosed were caused by the collision on August 16, 2017. RP

842:1-19. Dr. Widlan based his diagnostic and causation opinions on the constructs and diagnostic methodology provided in the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders ("DSM-V"). RP 799:13-22. Brain damage due to trauma is described in the DSM-V as "mild neurocognitive disorder due to traumatic brain injury." RP 789:2-11; 799:13-16. During his testimony, Dr. Widlan mentioned that he first interviewed Garbagni on May 19, 2021. RP 847:7-11. The June 12, 2021, date later referenced by Defense counsel was not part of anyone's testimony. *See id*.

On cross-examination Dr. Widlan was asked to provide the factual foundation for his opinions. RP 841; 842; 851; 853. Dr. Widlan testified that he relied upon the symptoms reported to him by Garbagni, and noted the following:

[T]he discrepancy in his cognitive and his memory profile each are indicative of cognitive changes . . . the issue with temporality . . . we have had this car accident, we had all this list of symptoms . . . all of this comes together to indicate that there's been cognitive changes [due to the auto accident].

RP 841:12-18.

During Dr. Widlan's testimony about the sub-diagnosis regarding Garbagni's personality changes due to traumatic brain injury—not the primary diagnosis of mild neurocognitive disorder due to traumatic brain injury—Dr. Widlan conceded that it had been a year since he had seen Mr. Garbagni but "[h]is symptoms have persisted up until the time of the — of my report. So, I don't want to say that his symptoms are occurring today because I haven't interviewed him today. But in terms of what is provided in my report, I feel comfortable — confident and comfortable in doing so." RP 882:9-883:17. However, Dr. Widlan never limited or qualified his opinions regarding Garbagni's diminished cognitive ability in any way, and insofar as the sub-diagnosis of personality change due to traumatic brain injury, his statement merely described his lack of knowledge regarding the persistence of symptoms of emotional lability in the year since he performed testing. *Id*.

Dr. Elizabeth Ziegler, the medical expert called by the defense, met with Mr. Garbagni on October 20, 2021 (during the time period when the jury was forbade from considering evidence). While she did not attribute his reported symptoms to the collision, she testified that Garbagni reported patterns of anger proneness, irritability, and having a low frustration tolerance, and she found that he performed very low on the nonverbal problem-solving test. RP 1065:17-23; 1128:9-14; 1130:17-25. Dr. Ziegler's testimony confirming Garbagni's ongoing emotional lability when she tested him on October 20, 2021, also addressed the factual ambiguity expressed by Dr. Widlan and was sufficient to defeat the partial CR 50 motion, but even her testimony was overlooked by the trial court.

A. CR 50 Motion.

After all the testimony had been taken, but before closing arguments were given, the respondents filed their CR 50 motion seeking dismissal of all claims for general damages, or in the alternative, seeking to limit the general damages claim to the

finite period between the collision and June 12, 2021. ANEW-Dove's attorney claimed that Garbagni's lawyer had "attempted to get [Dr. Widlan] to agree to a permanent injury or something beyond that time frame and Dr. Widlan testified to the jury he has no opinions beyond the last time that he saw Garbagni on June 12 of 2021," and thus—according to the respondents—there was "absolutely no testimony to support" damages beyond that date. RP 1190:21-25 1191:1-16. This representation by ANEW-Dove lawyer's statement lacked candor and was not supported by the evidence, since no witness ever testified as such.

Despite the compelling evidence of Garbagni's persistent symptoms, the trial court granted the CR 50 motion and struck Garbagni's claim for general damages incurred beyond June 12, 2021. The trial court reasoned that "[t]here needs to be some medical information of record that the symptoms are related to this incident for a time certain" and "[a]ll we have is June 12." RP 1202:20-25. The trial court later clarified that the ruling

meant that any alleged damages after June 12, 2021, were prohibited as a matter of law. RP 1202:20-25.

The trial court formalized its ruling by issuing jury instruction number 11: "If you find for the plaintiff, you should consider the following non-economic damages elements: The nature and extent of the injuries; the pain and suffering experienced through June 12, 2021." RP 1240:22-25.

The jury returned a verdict for the defense and awarded Garbagni no damages. RP 1296:20-22.

V. ARGUMENT

Granting a motion for judgment as a matter of law is only appropriate when, after viewing the evidence in a light most favorable to the nonmoving party, the court can say, as a matter of law, there is no substantial evidence or reasonable inference to sustain a verdict for the nonmoving party. *Guijosa v. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc.*, 144 Wn.2d 907, 915, 32 P.3d 250, 254 (2001) (*citing Sing v. John L. Scott, Inc.*, 134 Wn.2d 24, 29, 948 P.2d 816 (1997)). When reviewing a ruling on a motion for a

judgment as a matter of law, the appellate court engages in the same inquiry as the trial court, i.e., *de novo* review. *Faust v. Albertson*, 167 Wn.2d 531, 537, 222 P.3d 1208, 1212 (2009), *as amended* (Aug. 6, 2009).

A. The Superior Court erred by dismissing Garbagni's general damages after June 12, 2021, given that there was sufficient evidence to present these claims to the jury and there was no basis for dismissing these claims *ab initio*.

When viewed in a light most favorable to Garbagni, Dr. Widlan's expert testimony and the Garbagni family's lay testimony provided sufficient evidence to prove that Garbagni suffered ongoing collision-related symptoms after June 12, 2021. By limiting Garbagni's general damages to the period between the collision and June 12, 2021, the trial court erred. In this case, the jury should have been allowed to consider awarding general damages beyond June 12, 2021. *Indus. Indem. Co. of Nw. v. Kallevig*, 114 Wn.2d 907, 915-16, 792 P.2d 520 (1990) (A judgment as a matter of law requires the court to conclude, "as a matter of law, that there is no substantial

evidence or reasonable inferences to sustain a verdict for the nonmoving party."); *Alejandre v. Bull*, 159 Wn.2d 674, 681, 153 P.3d 864, 867 (2007) ("Substantial evidence" is evidence that is sufficient 'to persuade a fair-minded, rational person of the truth of a declared premise.").

Additionally, the trial court erred in striking Garbagni's claim for general damages after June 12, 2021, because Washington courts have consistently held that lay witnesses can establish the basis for claim for future general damages, no expert is needed. *See Bitzan v. Parisi*, 88 Wn.2d 116, 121, 558 P.2d 775, 778 (1977) ("[W]e hold the lay testimony, reviewed sufficient, alone, to support the instruction on future damages."); *Stevens v. Gordon*, 118 Wn. App. 43, 56, 74 P.3d 653, 661 (2003) ("Lay testimony on future damages may be sufficient to justify a jury instruction."); *Leak v. U.S. Rubber Co.*, 9 Wn. App. 98, 102-3, 511 P.2d 88 (1973).

In *Bitzan* the court stated that "an injured person can testify to subjective symptoms of pain and suffering, and to the

limitations of his physical movements." *Id.* Thus, the court concluded that a "future damage instruction can be given even though there is no medical testimony, or even if the medical testimony is contrary to plaintiff's testimony." *Id.* at 122 (citation omitted).

Here, Dr. Widlan's opinion that Garbagni continued to suffer from brain damage as of the date of his live trial testimony, June 29, 2022, (based upon testing and an interview he had conducted a year earlier), and the lay witness testimony that appellant continued to suffer the symptoms after June 21, 2021, was evidence ongoing general damages. Garbagni himself provided evidence of cognitive impairment RP 592:9-13; 588:14-15; 591:22-25; 592:16-17. Garbagni, testified that he had no trouble passing work related copy machine tests until after the collision. RP 599:5-10. Prior to the accident, Garbagni took performance tests every two months, and he passed every time. RP 605:20-25. He only began to struggle to pass these tests "after the accident." RP 606:1-2

Garbagni explained the extensive emotional and physical suffering he has experienced since the collision:

I constantly have a headache and still having issues with light, focusing on stuff is day to day. ...[t]here's just a lot of things. I mean, there's ringing in my ears...the other day I said I have to get in the shower. When it first happened it was something that I kind of blew off. Like I didn't think it was an issue. But it's gotten like for me to like get in the shower it feels like I'm sitting in a coffin...I can't breathe. I've never had that issue. Since this accident, it destroyed my life. I go to restaurant that I have been into hundreds of times. Two months ago, three months ago we go into that restaurant, and I'd see some family members. We talk to them for a second. I'm waiting for my order. All of a sudden, the place starts erupting. There's noise and lights and everything is just so overwhelming. There's no way to control it. I have to get out of the building and go sit in the car to wait for the rest of my family to come out. And I let them enjoy their breakfast and stuff while I sit in the car because I can't walk back in. This I nothing that's never—I've never had this before.

RP 1040:7-1042:16.

Due to the trial court's CR 50 ruling and Jury Instruction No. 11, the jury was not allowed even to consider the evidence concerning ongoing general damages. It was not reasonable for

the court to take the issue of whether Garbagni had damages away from the jury pursuant to CR 50(a). Indeed, "[t]he continued existence of these elements of damage at the time of trial permits a reasonable inference that future damage will be sustained." Bitzan, 88 Wn.2d at 122. Garbagni presented credible evidence to support an award of damages, even without the testimony of Dr. Widlan. Id. There is no imperative for expert testimony to prove damages, for "[e]xpert medical testimony to this effect may also be given but it is not essential" and "a future damage instruction can be given even though there is no medical testimony ... or even if the medical testimony is contrary to plaintiff's testimony." Id. (ellipsis added); accord, Stevens v. Gordon, 118 Wn. App. 43, 56-57, 74 P.3d 653 (2003) (holding plaintiff's "testimony regarding lost earnings and reduced work capacity up to the time of trial permits a reasonable inference that future economic losses will be sustained"; following *Bitzan*).

Courts recognized a similar inference of future damages from the continued existence of past damages in Stevens and Leak. Stevens v. Gordon, 118 Wn. App. 43, 56, 74 P.3d 653 (2003) ("Ms. Stevens's testimony regarding lost earnings and reduced work capacity up to the time of trial permits a reasonable inference that future economic losses will be sustained."); Leak v. U.S. Rubber Co., 9 Wn. App. 98, 102-3, 511 P.2d 88 (1973) (upholding recovery for future disability "because it could be inferred from the evidence that the *petit mal* seizures would continue for at least some time after the trial"); see also Bankson v. Laflam, 92 Wash. 437, 438-39, 159 P. 369, 369 (1916) ("The law presumes a continuance of what exists, and it is neither surprise to the opposite party nor unreasonable from any point of view to say that when a man exhibiting a permanent injury testifies also to his having pain up to the very time when he is talking to the jury, there may be a continuance of it for some time in the future, so no express proof upon that is necessary"); Passage v. Stimson Mill Co., 52 Wash. 661, 670,

101 P. 239, 242 (1909) (present pain plus the actual loss of a finger permitted inference of future pain); *Brammer v. Lappenbusch*, 176 Wash. 625, 634, 30 P.2d 947, 950 (1934) (future pain and suffering instruction appropriate when "respondent testified that his eye was still irritated, that it throbbed at night and disturbed his sleep" and "that his back still gave him trouble"); *Suprunowski v. Brown & White Cab Co.*, 142 Wash. 65, 68, 252 P. 155, 157 (1927) Because of these binding appellate decisions, the trial court could not, as a matter of law, arbitrarily set June 12, 2021, as a limit on those damages. This Court must reverse.

B. The misrepresentation to the court about Dr. Widlan's testimony by opposing counsel formed the basis of the court's CR 50 ruling.

Dr. Widlan testified that Garbagni's traumatic brain injury can result in persistent behavioral changes affecting emotional regulation, and thus Mr. Garbagni might "[lose] his temper more easily" and he may strain his marriage or other

family relationships when he "flies off the handle." RP 881:8-23.

Initially, Dr. Widlan testified that these symptoms are "persistent to this day," though he later clarified his testimony by stating that Garbagni's symptoms "persisted up until the time of the –of my report. So I don't want to say that his symptoms are occurring today because I haven't interviewed him today." RP 881-83. Dr. Widlan was merely qualifying his knowledge of symptoms; he did not withdraw or disavow his opinions.

Anew-Dove's counsel stated erroneously that Dr. Widlan "testified that he does not have any opinions beyond the last time that he saw Garbagni which was June 12th of 2021." RP 1190:21-1191:16. This was not Dr. Widlan's testimony.

Respondents' argument that Dr. Widlan's testimony—that he had no current information concerning Garbagni's ongoing symptoms—required a hard cap on Garbagni's damages was baseless.

C. The trial court's improper jury instruction amounted to an unconstitutional comment on the evidence.

The Superior Court's instruction to the jury that they should only determine the pain and suffering experienced through June 12, 2021, constituted an improper comment on the evidence under the Washington Constitution, article IV, section 16.

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