FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
11/3/2023 12:35 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

Supreme Court No. 1024525

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

No. 84335-4-I

DIVISION I OF THE WASHINGTON COURT OF APPEALS

RAY GARBAGNI,

Plaintiff - Appellant,

v.

KAREN DOVE and ANEW,

Defendants - Respondents.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

KELLEY J. SWEENEY, WSBA #25441 Attorney for Respondents Karen Dove and ANEW SIMMONS SWEENEY FREIMUND SMITH TARDIF PLLC 1223 Commercial Street Bellingham, WA 98225 (360) 752-2000

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

IV. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

This Court will grant discretionary review of a decision terminating review only under discrete circumstances. RAP 13.4 (b).

Here, Garbagni has not articulated any basis for review.

He does not argue that the Decision conflicts with decisions by
this Court and published decisions by the Court of Appeals, or

that the case involves a significant question of constitutional law, or even that this case involves an issue of substantial public interest. Garbagni has not provided any basis for review. His Petition should be denied.

Further, RAP 13.4(c)(5) requires a "a concise statement of the issues presented for review" rather than assignments of error as would be found in an appellate brief. Here, Garbagni has outlined "Assignment of Error" and then "Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error" as directed toward the trial court's conduct. Petition at 5.

It is understood that the primary purpose of a petition for review is to persuade this Court to accept review, by reference to the considerations specified in RAP 13.4 (b). As such, a petition should demonstrate why one or more of those considerations point towards acceptance of review; the purpose is not to reargue the appeal on the merits. Here, Garbagni has simply rehashed the merits of his appeal with the same arguments as presented in his Opening Brief and Reply in the Court of Appeals and again

in his Motion for Reconsideration. ANEW and Dove have resisted the urge to simply regurgitate arguments on the merits as presented in their briefing in the Court of Appeals and instead have attempted to concisely outline why review should be denied.

A. The Court of Appeals Correctly Affirmed the Trial Court's Decision to Limit Garbagni's Claim for Damages Consistent with Dr. Widlan's Testimony.

Again, Garbagni does not provide a basis for review of the Decision. He does not specifically articulate that the Decision conflicts with any appellate decisions. Garbagni argues regarding the trial court's limitation of damages; however, as the Court of Appeals correctly found, the jury did not even get to the issue of damages.

The Decision is in entirely in line with decisions of this Court and those published in the Court of Appeals. Garbagni's arguments are misplaced. He cites case law and argues regarding the sufficiency of proof of *damages*. There has never been a question regarding the sufficiency of proof of damages to get to

a jury. It is uncontested that lay witnesses can provide a basis for future damages. That is not the issue here. The issue all along, and still completely unaddressed by Garbagni, is that he failed to offer medical testimony to prove causation of a brain injury. The Petition should be denied.

Garbagni outlines the testimony provided by Garbagni and his lay witness family members regarding his alleged symptoms suffered to present day and argues that the trial court erred when it "arbitrarily set June 12, 2021, as a limit on those damages." Petition at 21. However, again, Garbagni ignores, or does not understand, the fact that this limitation was not because the trial court found the lay testimony insufficient to support a future damage claim. It was that the trial court found Dr. Widlan's testimony insufficient to support a *permanent* brain injury claim. Again, it was generous that the trial court allowed the jury to even consider awarding damages for an alleged brain injury for the timeframe between August 16, 2017, and June 12, 2021, where no medical doctor had supported a brain injury as causally

related to the minor accident at issue in the first place.

Garbagni goes so far as to allege that it was defense counsel's "misrepresentation to the court about Dr. Widlan's testimony" that "formed the basis of the court's CR 50 ruling." Petition at 23. And had previously asserted that this "representation ... lacked candor." Petition at 15. Regrettably, these false assertions again highlight the disconnect. The partial quote Garbagni references of defense counsel arguing "absolutely no testimony to support" was not regarding *damages*. Garbagni takes this quote out of context and is misleading the Court. The argument all along to the trial court was that there was no evidence to support *causation*. RP 1187 -1191.

In partially granting the CR 50 Motion the trial court partially understood the need for a medical expert's *causation* testimony. But the trial court only applied it prospectively, and so the trial court ruled: "There needs to be some medical information of record that the symptoms are related to this incident for a time certain. All we have is June 12th." RP 1202.

In other words, the trial court treated Dr. Widlan's testimony as an admission that he could not relate Garbagni's *current* symptoms to the collision, i.e., could not support a *permanent* brain injury.⁴

Because the jury awarded no damages, Garbagni must argue that somehow the trial court's rulings impacted Dr. Widlan's credibility and thereby the jury's causation determination. To be clear, the issue was never Dr. Widlan's credibility. Dr. Widlan told the jury, and in response to one of their questions, he could not diagnose a brain injury. RP 892. Even though the trial court generously permitted Dr. Widlan to offer an opinion, the jury knew they had not heard from a medical doctor who had diagnosed an underlying brain injury as causally related to the minor accident at issue. Quite the contrary, they heard from Dr. Wray, a neurologist and Dr. Ziegler a neuropsychologist, that Garbagni in fact did not suffer a brain

_

⁴ Needless to say, and again, Dr. Widlan was not qualified to support *any* brain injury as causally related to the minor accident.

injury. RP 913 (Dr. Wray) and RP 1076 (Dr. Ziegler). The jury had all they needed to know to return a defense verdict from Dr. Widlan himself. The Court of Appeals correctly found the trial court's limitation on damages had no effect on the jury's determination. The Petition should be denied.

B. The Court of Appeals Correctly Found that Jury Instruction 11 Reflected the Trial Court's Determination that the Evidence was Insufficient to Support a Finding that Garbagni's Injuries Persisted Beyond the Date of Dr. Widlan's Report and that No Prejudice Resulted.

As a preliminary matter, our state constitution confers on juries the "ultimate power to weigh the evidence and determine the facts," and there is a strong presumption that jury verdicts are correct. *James v. Robeck*, 79 Wn.2d 864, 869, 490 P.2d 878 (1971); *Bunch v. King County Dep't of Youth Servs.*, 155 Wn.2d 165, 179, 116 P.3d 381 (2005). Further, an appellate court must show appropriate deference to the jury's constitutional role as the ultimate finder of fact and will "presume that the jury resolved every conflict and drew every reasonable inference in favor of the prevailing party." *Coogan v. Borg-Warner Morse Tec Inc.*,

197 Wn.2d 790, 812-13, 490 P.3d 200 (2021).

Again, Garbagni does not cite RAP 13.4(b)(3), but asserts that jury instruction 11 amounted to an unconstitutional comment on the evidence.

The Court of Appeals correctly found that instruction 11 reflected the trial court's determination that the evidence was insufficient to support a finding that Garbagni's injuries persisted beyond the date of Dr. Widlan's report and that no prejudice resulted. Decision at 4-5.

The trial court merely limited Garbagni's claim for damages to a discrete timeframe consistent with the opinion of his only causation witness. This ruling did not affect the jury's ability to consider Dr. Widlan's testimony or negate other witnesses' testimony. It would have been reversible error for the trial court to submit future damages where they were not supported by medical testimony. *Gosa v. Hyde*, 117 Wash. 672, 676–77, 202 P. 274 (1921) (reversible error to include an element of damage in an instruction when there is no proof of that

element).

An instruction that is supported by the evidence and does no more than accurately state the relevant law is not a comment on the evidence. *Hamilton v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 111 Wn.2d 569, 571, 761 P.2d 618 (1988); *see, e.g., Christensen v. Munsen*, 123 Wn.2d 234, 867 P.2d 626, 30 A.L.R.5th 822 (1994); *Kastanis v. Educational Employees Credit Union*, 122 Wn.2d 483, 859 P.2d 26, 68 Fair Empl. Prac. Cas. (BNA) 995 (1993), opinion amended, 122 Wn.2d 483, 865 P.2d 507 (1994).

Here, the trial court correctly resolved the issue of *permanent* damages on the CR 50 motion. It ruled as a legal matter that Garbagni had not met his burden to establish causation of any ongoing injury as causally related to the minor motor vehicle accident after Dr. Widlan's examination.

The jury found Garbagni did not meet his initial burden to prove even an original injury. As such, no prejudice could have possibly resulted from an alleged error in a "duration of damages" instruction even if such was a comment on the evidence. *See State v. Levy*, 156 Wn.2d 709, 725, 132 P.3d 1076, 1084 (2006). The Court of Appeals correctly recognized that judicial comment is not prejudicial where the record affirmatively shows no prejudice could have resulted. *Id.*; Decision at 5.

Ultimately, Garbagni argues that that "the trial court's ruling on the CR 50 motion and corresponding jury instruction had the effect of destroying Garbagni's entire case." Petition at 28. Unfortunately for Garbagni, he did not even have a case without a medical doctor to support causation of a brain injury. The only concern of constitutional import implicated herein is preserving a jury's unanimous defense verdict based on a failure of proof. The Petition should be denied.

C. The Decision Affirming a Unanimous Defense Verdict Given Garbagni's Failure of Proof Does Not Involve an Issue of Substantial Public Interest.

Garbagni has not argued that this case implicates a substantial public interest under RAP 13.4(b)(4). However, to be clear, these facts certainly do not present an issue of

substantial public interest. To the contrary, this case involved a jury's proper determination following a complete failure of proof. Indeed, a compelling public interest, if anything, is certainly to affirm a unanimous jury verdict and a proper analysis which avoids the disaster of allowing damages to be awarded on a personal injury claim without competent medical causation evidence.

V. CONCLUSION

Discretionary review is reserved for those few cases that meet one or more of the criteria of RAP 13.4(b). This is not one of them. A unanimous jury returned a defense verdict in favor of ANEW and Karen Dove given Garbagni had failed to meet his burden of proof.

Garbagni cannot establish any criteria warranting review under RAP 13.4(b). Garbagni cannot establish any conflict between the Decision and a decision of this Court or a published decision of the Court of Appeals, a significant question of constitutional law or that this case is of substantial public

interest. Garbagni's Petition should be denied.

This document contains <u>3,182</u> words, excluding the parts exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.